2015

Hilary "Skip" O. Wing, Dba Re/Max Elite, Tim Shea, Dba Re/Max Elite, Aspenwood Real Estate Corp., Dba Re/Max Elite, Elite Legacy Corporation, Dba Re/Max Elite, Et Al., Appellees, Petitioners/Counterclaim Defendants/Third-Party Defendants, vs. Still Standing Stable, I.c., Appellant, Respondent/Counterclaim Plaintiff.

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is now provided under Utah Code §78A-4-103(2)(j), from Utah Code §78A-3-102(3)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE I - BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES: Did the Re/Max Elite real estate agent Tim Shea, as well as the brokers, breach a fiduciary duty as a matter of law when the agent (1) failed to pass the easement information from the Seller to the Buyer causing the Buyer to believe there was no access when in fact there was, and (2) failed to disclose critical material information to the Seller while operating under the Seller's Confidentiality Agreement and while serving as the Seller's real estate agent?

In the alternative, should the issue of breach of a fiduciary duty by the real estate agent and broker as well as the resulting damages have been submitted to a jury for a factual determination?

In dismissing all of the Seller's claims, did the trial court err in concluding "Still Standing's claims fail because it cannot prove that Shea and Remax caused any damage to Still Standing?"

Summary Judgment Standard of Review: Correctness.

An appellate court reviews a [lower] court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of *summary judgment* for *correctness* and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light *most favorable to the nonmoving party*.

Jones & Trevor Mktg., Inc. v. Lowry, 2012 UT 39, ¶ 9, 284 P.3d 630, 635

(emphasis added).

Confidentiality Agreement and Statutes Standard: Correctness.

The *interpretation of a contract* is a question of law, which we review for *correctness*, giving no deference to the ruling of the district court.

Interpretation of our case law is also reviewed for *correctness*, . . . as is the interpretation of a *statute* . . .

Salt Lake City Corp. v. Big Ditch Irr. Co., 2011 UT 33, 258 P.3d 539, 544

(emphasis added, internal citations and punctuation omitted).

Preserved. Memo. Seller's Cross-Motion Summ. J. Issue of Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Mar. 11, 2011, R.3094-3193; Seller's Ex. A-O, R.3194-3350; R. 3707-14, Exhibits P-W, R. 3715-58; Oral Trans., Mar. 22, 2012, R.8389, 16:7-41:22; 47:8-52:8; R.8389, 55:14.

ISSUE II - NEGLIGENCE AND MISREPRESENTATIONS: Did the Re/Max Elite real estate agent Tim Shea, as well as the brokers, including Skip Wing, operate in an "honest, ethical, and competent" manner or did their conduct related to the transaction at issue constitute negligence?

In dismissing all of the Seller's claims, did the trial court err in concluding "Still Standing's claims fail because it cannot prove that Shea and Remax caused any damage to Still Standing?"

Summary Judgment Standard of Review: Correctness.

An appellate court reviews a [lower] court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of *summary judgment* for *correctness* and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light *most favorable to the nonmoving party*.

Jones & Trevor Mktg., Inc. v. Lowry, 2012 UT 39, ¶ 9, 284 P.3d 630, 635

(emphasis added).

Confidentiality Agreement and Statutes Standard: Correctness.

The *interpretation of a contract* is a question of law, which we review for *correctness*, giving no deference to the ruling of the district court.

Interpretation of our case law is also reviewed for *correctness*, . . . as is the interpretation of a statute . . .

Salt Lake City Corp. v. Big Ditch Irr. Co., 2011 UT 33, 258 P.3d 539, 544

(emphasis added, internal citations and punctuation omitted).

Motion to Reconsider Standard of Review: Abuse of Discretion

Conclusions of Law: Correctness

We review the trial court's denial of a motion to reconsider summary judgment under rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for *abuse of discretion*. . . . In reviewing such a motion, *we accord no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law* but review them for *correctness*.

Lund v. Hall, 938 P.2d 285, 287 (Utah 1997)(emphasis added, citations omitted).

Preserved. Seller's Memo. Opp. Remax Summ. J., March 14, 2011, R.3130-89; Schvaneveldt Decl., March 10, 2011, R.3190-93; Exhibits R.3194-3350; Oral Trans., R.8389; R.4285-87; 4290-99. Mot. Recon., R.4280-4299, R.4288-89.

ISSUE III - JURISDICTION AND OWNERSHIP OF REMAX:

Should Seller's fiduciary duty, negligence, and misrepresentation claims against the brokers and agent be remanded for further consideration based on the post-trial discoveries Seller made as to the actual ownership of Re/Max Elite, forged documents that were recorded, and the false discovery responses provided by the broker?

Grounds for seeking issue not preserved: Seller's claims against the Remax side and all claims against SSS had been dismissed before the trial. None of the rulings had been certified as final. After the trial, Seller and others

discovered the true owner of Remax was actually Dale Quinlan. This in turn led to the discovery that multiple discovery responses provided by Remax through Skip Wing were false. In addition, Seller discovered the existence of multiple forged Remax documents filed with the Division the month after the REPC in this case was signed. All of the admitted and alleged discoveries constitute a breach of the duties owed by the licensees to the public.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

Additionally, although not occupying a fiduciary relationship with prospective purchasers, a real estate agent hired by the vendor is expected to be *honest, ethical, and competent* and is *answerable at law for breaches* of his or her statutory duty to the public. Moreover, real estate agents have a duty to *deal fairly and honestly, despite the fact that the broker is acting primarily as the seller's agent*. One of the purposes for imposing a *duty to disclose accurate or complete information* [is] to protect the buyer from the unethical broker and seller and to insure that the buyer is provided sufficient *accurate information to make an informed decision* whether to purchase.

West v. Inter-Fin., Inc., 2006 UT App 222, 139 P.3d 1059, 1064 (emphasis added, citations and punctuation omitted). R.3184.

[U]se an approved addendum form to make a counteroffer or *any other modification* to a contract;

R162-2f-401a (17). Affirmative Duties Required of All Licensed Individuals (emphasis added)(see current number 18).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Entities & Abbreviations

Allen, Jarl R. Contiguous land owner, sold land/easement to Seller after *Stable v. Allen*.

Allen, Ross. Contiguous land owner, defendant in *Stable v. Allen*.

Aspenwood Real Estate Corp. Defunct, non-party to FSBO, FSBO judgment creditor.

Code, Cathy. Third-party commission defendant, dismissed during trial, directed verdict.

Elite Legacy Corporation. Defunct, non-party to FSBO, FSBO judgment creditor.

Quinlan, Dale. Prior sole owner of DBA "Re/Max Elite," sold all FSBO claims to SSS.

Schvaneveldt, Chuck. Commission claim judgment debtor based on FSBO.

Shea, Tim. Real estate agent who never sold SSS land at issue, FSBO claims dismissed.

Still Standing Stable, L.C. Seller, purchased DBA "Re/Max Elite" and all FSBO claims.

Wing, Hilary "Skip." Alleged broker, non-party to FSBO, FSBO judgment creditor.

Division = Utah Dept. of Commerce, Division of Corporations and Comm. Code.

FSBO = Re/Max Elite *For Sale By Owner* commission agreement, Jan. 20, 2006.

R. = Reference to the case record.

RE/MAX ELITE. Utah DBA name, Registration No. 5800619-0151, owned by SSS.

REPC = Real Estate Purchase Agreement, Feb. 7, 2006.

Nature of the Case, Proceedings, Disposition

This is a dispute between the Seller of land on one hand, and licensed real estate brokers along with an agent on the other. Still Standing Stable, L.C. ("SSS"), through one of its members, Chuck Schvaneveldt ("Chuck"), was contacted by Tim Shea, a Re/Max Elite real estate agent. The agent initially viewed and "presented" a parcel of land owned by Chuck to potential buyers. Then, without ever visiting the two Ogden Valley land parcels at issue, Tim produced an impressive \$6 million REPC dated January 20, 2006. It failed. A second REPC for \$4.3 million signed in February, 2006, trigger about a decade of this current litigation.

When the Buyer, who turned out to be an LLC used in this land "flip" scheme, failed to appear at the closing, a flurry of complaints and counterclaims followed. SSS and Chuck were sued by the Buyer for some \$20 million. R.61. Buyer's complaint referred to "TBD" in "Section 2 of the REPC." R.54, ¶4. The REPC Chuck signed didn't have "TBD" in Section 2, it was blank. This is confirmed by the REPC copy Metro Title preserved (R.3230) and in the First American Title file. R.3245. Tim Shea eventually admitted he changed the REPC after it was signed by the Buyer and Seller. When compared to the title company

copies, about 10 changes were made to the REPC without permission and after it was signed. SSS counterclaimed against Remax and Shea, then settled with the Buyer. The *lis pendens* was removed so SSS could sell the land to others. Land values by that time were deflating rapidly.

Tim Shea and Remax later amended and sued SSS for a real estate commission related to the \$4.3 million failed sale. All of SSS's counterclaims against the brokerage, brokers and agent were dismissed early in a summary judgment order at issue in this appeal.

Broker Skip Wing joined as a commission claim plaintiff. Chuck and his then girlfriend, now wife, Cathy Code endured a jury trial. Cathy was dismissed via directed verdict. Cathy had signed the FSBO at issue, not Chuck. The "Seller" was defined as "Chuck *and* Cathy Code." R.P-3 (emphasis added). Chuck accepted a REPC referring to "Land LLC Still Standing Stables." R.3223. There is a blank area after his signature on the REPC followed by the LLC address. R.3227. The FSBO provision "[I]f the Seller [Chuck *and* Cathy] accepts an offer" was deemed satisfied by the court without Cathy ever accepting "an offer." After being instructed that "Plaintiffs . . . have earned a commission" (R.5346), the jury awarded \$30,000 against Chuck. R.5389. The trial court later changed the verdict

to more than \$130,000. *See* Chuck's \$362,485 supersedeas bond secured by cash. R.7041.

Multiple appeals followed, including this appeal. Still Standing Stable, L.C. is now respectfully requesting that the summary judgment entered against it be reversed and its claims remanded for consideration by a jury.

Statement of Facts and Timeline

Seller's memorandum in response to the Remax summary judgment motion as well as Seller's summary judgment memorandum include these same numbered facts and reference to the same set of Exhibits A- O. Factual points and attached exhibits are reduced to remove issues irrelevant to the appeal. The "R" citations related to each fact are from the Fiduciary Duty Memorandum, R.3096-3114. *See* R.3131-3149, same facts.

1. Confidentiality Agreement. On April 13, 2006, the parties entered into the Confidential Disclosure Agreement. The Agreement is between "Tim Shea, employed with ReMax Elite" (Recipient) and "Stake Center Locating, Inc. and Still Standing Stables, LLC" (Discloser). Confidential Agreement, p. 1, April 13, 2006; Exhibit A. The Agreement was "*for the purpose of providing Real Estate Services.*" *Id.* R.3096, Add.4.

A. Tim claimed the Confidentiality Agreement that he signed “has nothing to do with the purchase of the property *outside of the fact of not wanting to tell the Allens what the purchase price was.*” Shea Depo. I, 246:17-19. (There are two depositions of Tim, the first is noted as “Shea Depo. I.”) R.3096.

B. The name “Allens” does not appear in the Confidentiality Agreement. R.3096.

C. The Agreement covered all of the real estate deals that Tim worked on for both of the specified disclosing parties: Stake Center and Still Standing. R. 3097.

2. Tim was retained as the “go-to man for real estate services” on behalf of the Seller. Schvaneveldt Decl., p.1. R.3097.

3. Seller relied on Tim Shea’s claims that the agent had all sorts of experience on complex land deals. Schvaneveldt Decl., p.1. R.3097; Declaration is at R.3126-29, Add.3.

4. “It has been my experience that land deals are always tricky.” Email Shea to Code, Feb. 1, 2006, Code Depo, Ex. 55; Exhibit B. R.3097.

5. Tim Shea had only had his real estate license for about a year and a half, “approximately year and a half you’d been selling real estate before you

entered into this transaction? A (Shea): Approximately.” Shea Depo. I, 82:24-83:3. R.3097.

6. “I don’t know that I’ve ever had anyone instruct me on how to fill that [FSBO] out.” Shea Depo. I, 83:19-20. R.3098.

7. “Did anybody at ReMax sit down with you and say, This is how we fill out real estate purchase contracts with this group? A (Shea): No.” Shea Depo. I, 96:18-21. R.3098.

8. Tim Shea had actually never received a “six-figure commission.” Answer: “True to say.” Shea Depo. I, 206:6-8. R.3098.

9. The agent’s real estate knowledge was believed to be far superior to that of the Seller’s members. Schvaneveldt Decl., p.1. R.3098.

10. Tim was Chuck/Still Standing/Stake Center’s real estate agent on multiple properties. R.3098.

A. **The First Property Presented by Tim - Chuck’s 15 Acres.** Tim served as Chuck’s agent and presented the 15 acre parcel on Chuck’s behalf. This was the first property that Tim ever visited when he met Chuck: “I actually *presented both* . . . but Chuck kind of took the 15 acres off the table.” Shea Depo. I, 42:23-43 (emphasis added). R.3098.

B. Salt Lake Property. Tim was Chuck and Still Standing's agent on the Salt Lake property that Stake Center/Still Standing acquired (Salt Lake Property Contract, Exhibit C):

Q (Fuller): You are Chuck's agent on the sale of the Salt Lake property, right?

A(Shea): Yes.

Q: – you had a fiduciary obligation to him on?

A: On that specific transaction.

* * *

A. On – my duty was to Chuck on that specific transaction.

Q: Okay. Chuck an individual?

A: On that transaction.

Shea Depo. I, 297:15-298:4. R.3098-99.

11. Tim considered Chuck and Still Standing, LC to be one and the same: “you see Chuck Schvaneveldt as one and the same with the LLC; is that right? A(Shea): I – I think so. . . Q: Do you see him as one and the same? A(Shea): Yeah.” Shea Depo. I, 297:1-298:12. R.3099.

12. Tim filled out the Seller's Disclosures (Schvaneveldt Decl., p.3) and added the typing to the REPC that were presented to the Seller to sign. Shea Depo. I, 48:13-14. ("I typed it up at my office.") R.3099.

13. **Second Property Presented by Tim - First Contract for \$6 Million Failed.** Tim originally prepared the first purchase contract with a sales price of \$6,090,000 along with a FSBO. Original Contract, Jan. 20, 2006, Shea Depo. I, Ex. 27. The counteroffer was not accepted and the transaction failed. After the original \$6 million-plus offer failed, Tim Shea expressed an interest in doing more business with Seller. Tim began working on the Salt Lake property (Fact 10(b)) acquisition the same month he brought a new offer (Fact 14) on the land at issue, February 2006. Schvaneveldt Decl., pp.3-4. R.3099.

14. **Second Real Estate Purchase Contract for \$4.3 Million.** On behalf of the Seller and after the earlier transaction terminated, Tim circulated a second real estate purchase contract (hereafter the "REPC"), the contract at issue for \$4,362,500, which was allegedly signed by Seller on February 7, 2006. Shea Depo I, Ex. 32; Wing Depo. Ex. 98; Exhibit D, Add.4. *See also*, Schvaneveldt Decl. ¶27, developed interest in having Tim represent Seller on multiple properties. R. 3099.

15. There was no agency disclosure circulated with the February 2006 REPC. Schvaneveldt Decl., p. 1. R.3100.

16. No Agency Disclosure Notation Completed in REPC that Seller Signed.¹

A. Paragraph 5 (agency disclosure) of the REPC signed by the Buyer and Seller, as well as the brokerage disclosures, are blank. Shea Depo. I, Ex. 32; Exhibit D, Add.4. The REPC copy that Metro Title produced in response to the subpoenas have no Seller initials in paragraph 5 either. Wing Depo. Ex. 99; Exhibit E, Add.4, Metro National Title copy of REPC. R.3100.

B. Tim Shea made a *false statement in his deposition* regarding the initials in the REPC paragraph 5:

Q (Fuller): Mr. Shea, I'll ask you to look at Exhibit 28, which is a real estate purchase agreement. Shea Depo. I, 127:2-4
* * *

Q: [W]hen it came from seller, it had seller's initials by the confirmation of agency disclosed here and from the buyers when it came from back from them?

A: Yes.

¹ Remax never produced any original REPC nor FSBO.

Shea Depo. I, 152:8-11; Remax Complaint REPC, Exhibit F, Add.4. (Compare to Exhibits D and E, which have no agency disclosures noted nor Seller's initials next to paragraph 5). R.3100.

C. Seller's *initials were forged* in the Paragraph 5 box of the REPC. Initials were not added until after Tim Shea received the earnest money. See and compare Exhibit D (Shea Depo. Ex. 28), the REPC that Chuck signed; Exhibit E, the copy from Metro Title; and Exhibit G, the copy from First American Title in contrast to Exhibit F, the copy that was attached to the Remax complaint. R.3100.

D. Tim Shea made another *false statement in his deposition* by claiming he added the notation "FSBO" to the REPC (see the handwriting "FSBO Agreement" on Shea Depo. I, Ex. 28, page 2 of REPC; Exhibit F) before he sent it to the Seller to sign:

Q (Fuller): Was that [FSBO agreement] put on before or after it went over to this Chuck and Still Standing?

A (Shea): Before.

Q: That would have been before. Tell me what that – is that your writing?

A: Yeah.

Q: . . . Was that on there when you went sent it to the buyers?

A: Yeah.

Shea Depo, I, 154:1-3 (bracket added). Notation is not on page 2 of Exhibit D, the REPC that Chuck signed. R.3101.

E. The REPC copy supplied by Metro Title had been signed by the buyer and seller, but Tim's handwritten "FSBO" notation was not on Metro's copy. Exhibit E, Add.4. A similar *false statement* is included on page 154:14-17 of Tim's first deposition. ("that was filled out before you sent it to the buyer . . . Either the buyer or seller? A (Shea): Yeah.") Tim eventually admitted to filling in the blanks *after* the buyer and seller had signed the REPC:

Q (Fuller): It was afterwards, after Chuck signed it, right?

A (Shea): Right.

Shea Depo, I, 315:22-24. R.3101.

F. Another *false statement* by Tim includes the following while referring to the initials on the bottom of the REPC page 5 (Shea Depo. I, Ex. 28; Exhibit F): "seller's initials and the buyer's initials, that would have been sent back to you . . . after they initialed those, it would have come back to you, right? . . . A(Shea): Yes." Shea Depo. I, 160:20-161:1. The Metro Title copy of the REPC (Exhibit E) did not have Chuck's initials on the bottom nor the date of "2-7-06." (Compare the

date next to Chuck's initials on page 4 of Exhibit F, Add.4, to the date on page 5.)
R.3101.

G. The REPC copy produced by First American Title in its subpoena responses, Exhibit G, Add.4, is also missing, *inter alia*, the paragraph 5 initials, multiple check marks, the "TBD" modification, page 5 initials and date. R.3102.

17. The Buyer, Emmett Warren, LLC, through its member, attorney John Lish (Utah Bar since 1998, Lish Depo. 5:23), testified that he thought Tim Shea was working for Chuck (Seller's member):

Q: Tell me, as of May 1, 2006, did you feel like you had a broker agreement and agency disclosure with Re/Max or Tim Shea at that point in time?

A (Lish): No. I – I would assume this whole time that – you know, that – *I believed that he was working for Chuck.*"

Lish Depo. 51:14-18 (emphasis added). R.3102.

18. Skip Wing, contrary to the Buyer, thought Tim was working for the Buyer:

Q. Hypothetically, if he sat up there in the house of the Allens and there were discussions about right-of-way problems and the possibility of acquiring a right-of-way and talking about the land and talking about Chuck and talking about whatever people sit around and talk about when they're visiting, is that an important event that he should have gone to the sellers and said, I've just been at the Allen's house?

MR. WALLACE: Objection, compound, vague.

Q. Is that an important element that he should have disclosed?

A. And the buyers were with him?

Q. With him, yes.

MR. WALLACE: Same objection.

THE WITNESS: I don't know. *He represented the buyers.* They were his first duty.

Wing Depo. 209:1-16 (emphasis added). R.3102.

19. Closing was scheduled for May 3, 2006, the day the Seller's side did close (pursuant to instructions from Seller's counsel Gretta C. Spendlove, retained to work with Seller's other attorney Nina Cleere on the large transaction). *See* Seller's Attorney Gretta C. Spendlove, Durham, Jones, Pinegar, Escrow and Closing Instructions to First Am. Title, May 3, 2006, Bates No. SSS 088; Signed Deeds, SSS 091-095; FATCO Final Statement SSS 096-098. R.3102.

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