2015

Hilary "Skip" O. Wing, Dba Re/Max Elite, Tim Shea, Dba Re/Max Elite, Aspenwood Real Estate Corp., Oba Re/Max Elite, Elite Legacy Corporation, Dba Re/Max. Elite, Et. Al., Appellees, Petitioners/Counterclaim Defendants/Third-Party Defendants, v. Still Standing Stable, I.c., Appellant, Respondent/Counterclaim Plaintiff.

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I: IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT, THE LOWER COURT RELIED UPON OVERWHELMING, UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE THAT THERE WAS NO ACCESS TO THE PROPERTY, AND THAT SSS REFUSED TO SELL BY WARRANTY DEED AS REQUIRED BY THE REPC, WHICH JUSTIFIED THE BUYER IN NOT PROCEEDING WITH THE PURCHASE.

The lower court concluded, “the transaction failed because SSS could not guarantee access to the property [from a public way]. That’s the bottom line.” Apl’t.’s Br. at 52 and 64 (quoting the lower court); R at 8389 and Exhibit A hereto. The lower court was correct, even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to SSS.

In order to avoid summary judgment, SSS argues that there was access: “[s]eller did have access to the land” (Apl’t.’s Br. at 54, part 1.); SSS “always maintained there was access to the property” (*Id.*). However, as it’s “evidence” that SSS had access, SSS merely asserted: (A) without foundation, its owner’s lay opinion; (B) the fact that SSS could later sell the Property so there must have been access, (C) the sale did not contemplate access, and (D) the buyer breached the contract by not buying. See Apl’t.’s Br. at 42, 52, 56, 64 and 66. Each of these will be discussed under same letters, below.

(A) To try to demonstrate access, SSS’s owner merely, without foundation, gives his lay opinion: “I remain of the opinion that since acquiring the additional property [the Strip] . . . SSS did have right-of-way to the Allen parcel and the original parcel”. Apl’t.’s Br. at 54. Thus all that SSS relies upon is an unfounded, self-serving, lay opinion of the party itself that he believes there was access. And that opinion does not even assert access to a public road across all three intervening properties, that is, not across the

Byram and the Monastery and the Allen properties. He states only that SSS has access “to the Allen parcel,” and not across it, let alone across the two properties. (Regarding the existence of the three intervening properties, see Facts, above, paras., 7, 26, 27, and 39). *Id.* SSS always had access to the Allen property because it was adjacent to the Property. “Even in a light most favorable to SSS, its “evidence “is totally inadmissible and unreliable to show real, enforceable access from the Property to a public road.

And SSS’s unfounded, lay opinion is presented in the face of overwhelming, undisputed evidence to the contrary upon which the lower court relied. That overwhelming, competent evidence included: the prior decision of another district court that arguments as to the existence of access were frivolous (Facts, above, paras. 3-5); there were no material changes in the facts after that opinion except the irrelevant strip, (*Id.*); the opinions of no less than three separate title companies (Facts, above, paras. 12-20; 34-35), one of which was engaged by SSS itself (Facts, above, paras. 18-20); the opinion of an independent title officer whom SSS trusted, plus that of one other lawyer/title officer (Facts, above, paras. 21-30; 38); the opinion of a skilled property lawyer whom SSS engaged to assist it with access issues – Gretta Spendlove (Facts, above, paras. 48-56); the statement of SSS’s in-house lawyer that there was no access – Nina Cleere (Facts, above, paras. 53-56); SSS’s own actions in trying to change from deeding the Property by general warranty deed as required by the REPC (Facts, above, para. 10), to deeding by special deed (Facts, above, paras. 47-52, 56); the statement of one of the three intervening property owners that there is no access across his property. (Facts, above, paras. 27, 39).

As to the strip, after the adverse opinion by the other district court that arguments as to existing access were frivolous, SSS bought a strip of adjacent land and argued that that yielded access. Facts, above, paras. 6-8. However, the Strip was on the other side of the Property from any public road, and from the three intervening properties between the Property and the public road. Facts above, para. 6-8. Some of the expert's/lawyer's specifically considered SSS's later acquired Strip, yet concluded that there was still no access to the Property. Facts, above, paras. 27-28, 35, 44, 55-56.

The lower court properly concluded that summary judgment was appropriate.

(B) SSS argues that because it was able to buy the Property originally, and able to sell it after the transaction at issue failed, then there must have been access. Aplt.'s Br. at 57, Part 4. However, purchase and sale of the Property alone doesn't prove access. Purchase and sale of property without access is all right, as long as the parties know of the lack of access, and agree to proceed notwithstanding. For example, when SSS bought the Property from SITLA, SITLA properly warned SSS that, "There is likely no access to the [P]roperty", and that SITLA "is not guaranteeing access." Facts, above, para. 2. Undoubtedly SITLA had to sell the Property for a bargain because access could not be guaranteed. The same would be true of the sale of the Property after the sale at issue failed. Still Standing's later sale of the Property was for \$1 million plus, instead of the \$4 million plus price in the REPC at issue. R. at 3672-3673. (Schvaneveldt Decl. para. 22). Likely, SSS had learned its lesson and warned the buyer that there was no access, thus driving the value down. The mere sale does not prove there is access. Just because some people buy under some circumstances such as no access, that does not mean that that

transaction proves that the terms in all other REPC's are the same. That is also true where the REPC at issue required a general warranty deed (Facts, above, paras. 9-10) and the proposed buyers in this case desired use of the Property other than by helicopter. That is especially true where the later purchase was by special deed, for far less, with the buyer's knowledge of the lack of access.

SSS even admits that this last sale was by special warranty deed and not general warrantee deed as required in the REPC at issue. Aplt.'s Br. at 57-58. SSS tried to sell the Property to the buyers at issue by special deed also, but buyers required SSS to follow the REPC and sell by general warranty deed. Facts, above, para. 10, 50-52, 54-56.

(C) SSS alleges that the sale never contemplated access to the Property. Aplt.'s Br. at 56, part 3. It seems axiomatic that one who buys property should not need a helicopter in order to set foot on the property, unless that party is so advised and agrees thereto in advance. Normal sale of property contemplates that the buyer will enjoy full, unrestricted, beneficial use of and access to the Property.

We were not able to find cases in Utah directly on point which stand for the proposition that a warranty deed necessarily includes access, without some notice of the lack of access to the buyer. We were able to find the following cases which hold that a general warranty deed implies or necessarily includes legal access to the property. In *Haines v. Old Republic Nat. Title Ins. Co.*, 178 P.3d 1086 (Wyo. 2008), the Wyoming Supreme Court held that "when property completely lacks [legal] access, it is usually held that its title is unmarketable." *Id.* at 1090 (citation

omitted) (holding that where insured brought action against title insurer to require it to obtain a recorded easement or right of access but had already obtained an order establishing a public road, the public road provided access and made title marketable).

In *Hinton v. Hardwoods, Inc. v. Cumberland Scrap Processors Transport, LLC*, 2008 WL 5429569 (Ct. App. Ky. 2008), the court held that a purchaser's refusal to purchase property, where the seller could not obtain a right of access, was valid because the purchaser was purchasing the property for the purpose of conducting an industrial business. Unrestricted access to a public thoroughfare was vital for such an industrial property. Absent a legal right of access, the property was landlocked. *Id.* at *5 (the property is landlocked, rendering it useless to the purchaser, and therefore the title was not marketable). In that case, as in ours, the contract of sale did not include a specific declaration that legally enforceable access to the property was a condition to the agreement. The contract was silent on whether or not there would be access.

We did find one Utah case on access, *Mostrong v. Jackson*, 866 P.2d 573 (1993), in which a property was sold which had two accesses: one dirt road from the north, and a permissive one to the south across another's property, but which later had been accepted by the County as a public road. *Id.* at 576. The Supreme Court held that the buyers failed to demonstrate that title included no access for

several reasons, including, “the Jacksons [sellers] and /or Security Title had obtained legal access to the property via the north road, and tentatively via the south road . . . pending only final arrangements with Millard County.” *Id.* In addition the seller agreed to “undertake to cure defects if it can be done in . . . reasonable diligence . . . *Id.* In addition, the sellers told the buyers of the permissive use of the south road, and “[S]uch actual knowledge, pursuant to the *Sinks* case, prevents a claim of unmarketable title.” *Id.*

In fairness to the court, we were able to find one jurisdiction which held that lack of access did not necessarily make the property unmarketable – Colorado.

Indeed the sale here contemplated that the buyers would have full use and enjoyment of the property by way of a general warranty deed, however SSS would not supply one. Facts, above, paras. 47-56. Absent notice to a buyer of lack of access, and the buyer’s willingness to buy notwithstanding, a sale would not be proper.

(D) SSS alleges, without evidence, that the buyer’s plan to flip the property failed, therefore buyers did not proceed with the sale, and breached the REPC. Aplt.’s Br. at 55, part 2. However, there was no evidence that the plan to flip the Property caused the buyers not to buy. It was the lack of access to the Property, and the refusal of the sellers to provide a warranty deed, which breached the REPC. See Facts, above, paras. 42-44 (buyers would not proceed because no access), 46 (buyer’s buyer would not proceed for

that same reason); 47-54 (SSS refused to provide a general warranty deed as required by the REPC).

Because it was undisputed that only SSS is responsible for the failure of the sale at issue, the lower court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of RE/MAX.

POINT II: CONCERNING THE BREACH OF CONTRACT AND IMPLIED CONTRACT CLAIMS, SSS ITSELF ASSERTS THAT THERE NEVER WAS A CONTRACT; AND EVEN IF THERE WERE, THERE WAS NO AFFIRMATIVE OBLIGATION OF RE/MAX THEREUNDER WHICH COULD HAVE BEEN BREACHED.

SSS asserts alleged contract claims arising out of a “confidentiality agreement”, and no other agreement. See Aplt’s Br. at Exhibit 4, and at 44, 49-50, 63. However, SSS is not a party to that agreement. A quick review of the agreement shows only two signators: (1) Nina Cleere for the “Discloser Stake Center Locating, Inc.”; and (2) Tim Shea for “Recipient RE/MAX Elite”. R. at 3200 or Aplt’s Br. Exhibit 4, page 3. SSS is mentioned along with Stake Center Locating in the first paragraph of the confidentiality agreement, but SSS did not sign off on it. Because SSS is not a party to the agreement, it cannot make any claims thereunder.

Even if SSS had been a signator and party to the agreement, the agreement is still irrelevant. No specific confidential information is alleged to have been disclosed by Tim Shea (a RE/MAX agent) which he passed on to the buyers, let alone any shown to have had any effect on the transaction. During this litigation, if SSS objected in any way to any disclosures of confidential information, he could have raised that, which he did not. The buyers stated under oath that the lack of access and lack of a general warranty deed or

other guarantee of access caused them not to go forward with the purchase of the land Property, not some confidential information disclosed by RE/MAX.. See Facts, above, paras. 41-43, 47-52, 54, 56. Because the transaction failed as a result of there being no access, and of the seller's refusing to give a general warranty deed, any other alleged breaches that did not cause the failure of the sale, would be irrelevant anyway. See, also, Point V, below, for other alleged breaches of duty or other alleged wrongs. See, also, Point III, below, regarding lack of causal effect.

SSS's owner, Mr. Schvaneveldt, confirmed in sworn testimony that there were no contracts between SSS and RE/MAX, and that he would not enter into any such contracts. He stated that he had discussions with Tim Shea, RE/MAX's agent, about the Property and another nearby 15 acre parcel for sale. He continued that (1) he refused to enter into a sales contract with Mr. Shea or with any other real estate agent or agency, but (2) if Mr. Shea brought him a buyer, he would pay Mr. Shea a 3% commission. Mr. Schvaneveldt testified:

“ And he [Tim Shea of RE/MAX] says, ‘What will you give me if I find somebody to buy it [the Property]?’ And I said, ‘I’ll give you three percent. We’re not going to sign with any real estate companies or anything like that, [concerning the sale of the Property] ...”

See Facts, above, para 59. RE/MAX had no duty to do anything such as seek out a buyer, use its best efforts, etc., but if RE/MAX happened to bring a buyer, SSS would pay a commission. That being the case, there would be no contract duties, express or implied, which existed between RE/MAX or its agents and SSS. That being the case, there could was no breach. See also Point VIII, below regarding fiduciary duties.

Also, the REPC provided that RE/MAX represented the buyers in the transaction, and not the seller, SSS. In the REPC at page 2, para. 5, it is clearly stated that Tim Shea and RE/MAX are the buyer's agent. In that paragraph, there are also lines left blank where the real estate agent for the seller could be inserted. See Aplt.'s Br. Exh. 4, REPC dated 2/7/06, para. 5. Those lines are left blank because SSS was unrepresented in the transaction, as he testified he would be, above.

Also confirming the above, SSS was selling the Property "by owner". See the For Sale By Owner agreement (FSBO) between SSS and RE/MAX. R. at 3238-3239. The FSBO states that the parties thereto are RE/MAX and "Chuck [Schvaneveldt] and Cathy Code". R. at 3238-3239. SSS admits that, "None of the plaintiffs [RE/MAX] were parties to the FSBO and none of the agents had standing to sue SSS . . ." Aplt.'s Br. at 68. Thus the FSBO cannot serve as a basis for breach of contract or contract related claims.

Because admittedly there were no contracts between the sellers and RE/MAX, whereby RE/MAX had duties toward the sellers, there was no breach by RE/MAX, and RE/MAX was entitled to summary judgment on SSS's claims of breach of contract, and of express and implied covenants.

POINT III: UNDER ALL OF SSS'S THEORIES OF LIABILITY, A CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN THE ACTIONS OF RE/MAX AND THE ALLEGED DAMAGES FAILS, AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A causal connection between the actions of a defendant and the alleged damages, is an element of any tort case, negligent or intentional, and any contract case. See *e.g. Bair v. Axiom Design, LLC*, 2001 UT 20, P24 (a plaintiff seeking to

recover for breach of contract must prove that the damages she seeks were caused by the breach); *Crestwood Cove Apartments v. Turner*, 2007 UT 48, P 30 (in the professional liability context a "plaintiff must plead and prove . . . a causal connection between the breach of duty and the resulting damages" .); *Raab v. Utah Railway Company*, 2009 UT 61, P19 ("well-established rule that a plaintiff must prove that the defendant's negligence was the proximate cause of his injuries."); (See also *Holmstrom v. C.R. England, Inc.*, 2000 UT App 239, P32).

Although cause is often a matter of fact, where facts are undisputed, and at certain other times, the issue of cause can become a matter of law. See, e.g. *Raab v. Utah Railway Company*, 2009 UT 61, wherein the Utah Supreme Court differentiated between cause in fact and legal cause. In *Raab* the court stated:

"[P]roximate cause issues can be decided as a matter of law when a determination of the facts falls on either side of two opposite ends of a factual continuum [:] ... (i) when the facts are so clear that reasonable persons could not disagree about the underlying facts or about the application of a legal standard to the facts, and (ii) when the proximate cause of an injury is left to speculation so that the claim fails as a matter of law."

Raab at P32, quoting *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 439 (emphasis added).

In the case at bar, causation could be decided as a matter of law. As to causation, the lower court held that only SSS caused any damages:

Still Standing's claims fail because it cannot prove that Shea [RE/MAX's agent] and RE/MAX caused any damage to Still Standing. The transaction failed because Still Standing could not guarantee an access to the property.

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